1951

Ous P. Lexes, Ralph M. Garner, Peter John Kanon
and Thomas L. Anderson v. The Industrial
Commission of Utah and American Smelting and
Refining Company : Brief of Petitioners

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be designated as follows: petitioners and defendants.

All italics are ours.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioners, Gus P. Lexes, Ralph M. Garner, Peter John Kanon and Thomas L. Anderson, were employees

of the American Smelting & Refining Company, working at their Garfield, Utah, smelter. All of the petitioners were unemployed from the 28th day of June, 1950, to and including the 8th day of July, 1950. The unemployment resulted from a closing of the A. S. & R. Company Smelter at Garfield on June 28th when the 7:45 A. M. shift of employees was unable to enter the smelter because there was at the gates to the smelter a picket line of the Switchmen's Union of North America.

The Switchmen's Union is affiliated with the American Federation of Labor. All of the petitioners are members of the Garfield Smelter Local Union No. 4347 of the United Steel Workers of America, affiliated with the C.I.O.

Petitioner Kanon reported for work on the morning of the 28th of June at approximately 7:30. When he arrived at the east gate there was a lot of commotion, automobiles parked on the highway, busses lined up along the highway in front of the gate. Traffic was stopped by a picket line at the east gate. There was a large group of men at the gate. Mr. Kanon was quite sure that if he had attempted to cross through the picket line he would have been stopped. He did not attempt to cross the picket line (R. 52). When pressed for an estimate of the number of persons at the east gate Mr. Kanon stated that in his opinion there were a couple of hundred. At that time Mr. Kanon did not see any sheriff or other law enforcement personnel at the gate (R. 53).

Petitioner Garner belonged to that group of employees who did not report for work on the 7:45 shift. He was on a ten-day leave because of illness on the 28th of June. He was to report back for duty on the 1st of July. On the 30th of June he called the Garfield plant and was informed by Mr. Romney, the Employment Director, that there was no work available for him.

Petitioner Lexes likewise was not to report for work on the 28th of June and heard an announcement over the radio at approximately 11:00 Wednesday night that the picket line was at the gate and employees were not going through it (R. 57, 58).

There was no dispute about the basic facts of the picket line and the orders for the men not to report for work after the 28th of June. When it became known that the employees of the A. S. & R. plant at Garfield could not go through the switchmen's picket line the company and union officials agreed that in order to save inconvenience an announcement should be made over the radio that the plant was closed down. Such announcements were periodically broadcast by local radio stations in their news broadcasts (R. 36).

For a long time prior to the 28th of June the switching operations at the A. S. & R. plant at Garfield had been carried on by members of the Switchmen's Union of North America. Several days prior to the 28th that Union struck against The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company. The switchmen running the

switching equipment at A. S. & R., who were members of the Switchmen's Union, struck. None of the members of the Switchmen's Union were employees of A. S. & R. They were all employed by The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company.

It was stipulated that there was no labor dispute between the A. S. & R. and any of its employees. After the switchmen went out on strike the members of the Steel Workers' Union took over the switchmen's switching jobs at A. S. & R.'s plant at Garfield.

About the 23rd of June the union leadership informed the management that if a picket line was formed at the plant that its members would not pass through the picket line (R. 17). The Company Manager, Mr. Rouillard, on the morning of the 28th informed Mr. Keith, the Chairman of the Union, that the picket line would be enjoined and he requested that the union employees of the plant remain around for several hours so that this could be accomplished. The management did not have the pickets enjoined or removed from their picketing of the gates to the smelter (R. 35). Mr. Rouillard was very sure that the picket line was an illegal picket line and would be removed within at least a day (R. 16).

Mr. Keith and Mr. Matthews, members of the Executive Board of the Union, were of the opinion that had their membership attempted to cross the switchmen's picket line there would have been disturbances and violence and probably a "nice" riot (R. 21).

Possible violence was only one of the deterring factors that prevented the employees of A. S. & R. from going through the picket line. Union members generally take an oath that they will not violate picket lines. This oath is seriously and universally accepted by members of organized labor (R. 21). The A. S. & R. plant was a union plant and all of the day-pay workers were members of the Steel Workers' Union. The town of Garfield, in which many of the employees reside, provides the social atmosphere in which the men must live. The violation of a picket line by a union member places a stigma on the violator. He becomes known as a "rat" or a "scab" or a person who will not abide by his oath. Mr. Keith testified that it was regarded as an unforgiveable thing to do in the ranks of labor (R. 22).

Clarence Palmer, Executive Secretary of the Utah Industrial Union Council, testified that every union man on joining a union pledges that he will, in effect, respect picket lines and work for the betterment of all laboring men; that a union man who crossed a picket line would be termed a "scab," a man devoid of honor, one that could not be trusted and was not acceptable for the society of other union men. Mr. Palmer related how the crossing of picket lines often leads to violence and acts of violence. The union members on strike have a great deal at stake. They are emotionally affected by workmen crossing their picket line.

Mr. Matthews, one of the Executive Board of the Garfield Local, stated that when he arrived at the picket

line at the east gate the pickets were there; that they, in protecting their jobs, would have stopped him in one way or another had he tried to cross through the picket line. All the men of the 7:45 A.M. shift were there at the gate. He further testified that Garfield was a union community, union minded, and anyone who would attempt to cross a picket line would be termed a "scab" and people wouldn't take to such a person. He would be more or less ostracized (R. 45). Mr. Matthews further testified that even though the pickets were outnumbered they were always ready to get reinforcements and they would use violence even though outnumbered, resulting in a brawl (R. 50).

The Appeals Referee found the facts substantially as set forth in the Statement of Facts and that the closing of the plant was made necessary by the refusal of the plant employees to pass the picket line. They further found in number 7 of their Findings that if the workers involved had attempted to cross the picket line to go to work they would have been in dispute with their fellow workers and the union. They would have been considered as "scabs" and their position in the community would have become socially undesirable.

The Appeals Referee then concluded that the claimants were not available for work for the weeks ending July 1, 1950, and July 8, 1950, and as a consequence were not qualified for unemployment compensation. The Board of Review of the Industrial Commission concluded

that none of the company workers was available for work from June 28th through July 7th, thus affirming the decision of the Appeals Referee. From the decision of the Board of Review petitioners prosecute this appeal to the Supreme Court.

The Industrial Commission Claims Supervisor, Far-rald Christensen, in denying petitioners' application for unemployment compensation stated as follows:

“You were unemployed because in accordance with your union principles you did not choose to cross the picket line which had been established by the Switchmen's Union. This choice is one which members of organized labor are frequently called upon to make and in the eyes of the Utah act, this kind of choice has never been deemed involuntary. You are, therefore, ineligible to receive benefits from June 25 through July 8, 1950.”

At the hearing before the Appeals Referee the evidence which petitioners presented was directed toward the proposition of showing that their conduct was not voluntary but that they were involuntarily, and with good cause, off their jobs on the days in which they seek unemployment compensation. As a consequence, the record before the Court is not primarily directed toward illuminating the availability of the petitioners for employment. There has been a shift of the Department of Employment Security's position from the supervisors early ground to the stated ground in the Department's decision.

Petitioners feel that the question of their availability for work is adequately demonstrated by the evidence presented to the Appeals Referee and transcribed for this Court. The statutes under which the Department of Employment Security acted are *Section 42-2a-4, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended Laws of 1949*, the salient portions of which read as follows:

“An unemployed individual shall be eligible to receive benefits with respect to any week only if it has been found by the commission that:

* * * * *

“(c) He is able to work and is available for work.”

and *Section 42-2a-5, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended Laws of 1949*, which reads as follows:

“An individual shall [not] be ineligible for benefits or for purposes of establishing a waiting period:

“(a) For the week in which he has left work voluntarily without good cause, if so found by the commission, and for not less than one or more than the five next following weeks, as determined by the commission according to the circumstances in each case, provided that when such individual has had no bona fide employment between the week in which he voluntarily left such work without good cause and the week in which he filed for benefits he shall be so disqualified for the week in which he filed for benefits and for not less than one or more than the five next following weeks.”

The exact reason for the shift in the department's position is hard to discover. Petitioners believe that there is no material reason for the shift, but for the sake of presenting this case in all of its ramifications they will show not only that they were not voluntarily unemployed without good cause but also that they were available for work.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

PETITIONERS DID NOT LEAVE WORK VOLUNTARILY WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE.

POINT II.

PETITIONERS WERE AT ALL TIMES AVAILABLE FOR WORK.

POINT III.

THE INABILITY OF PETITIONERS TO GAIN ACCESS TO THEIR PLACE OF WORK WAS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THEIR EMPLOYER.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

PETITIONERS DID NOT LEAVE WORK VOLUNTARILY WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE.

The salient, beneficial and essential benefits of unemployment compensation statutes have now been established beyond any possible doubt. The beneficial effects

of unionization of employees has also ceased to be controverted by any intelligent segment of our population. Maintenance of unions has been protected by statutory enactment so that there could be no possible doubt on this matter. *Utah Code Annotated*, 1943, *Section 42-2a-5, Subsection (c)* as amended *Laws of 1949*, contains the following provision concerning ineligibility of employees for workmen's compensation:

“(2) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this act, no work shall be deemed suitable, and benefits shall not be denied under this act to any otherwise eligible individual for refusing to accept new work under any of the following conditions: (A) if the position offered is vacant due directly to a strike, lockout or other labor dispute; (B) if the wages, hours, or other conditions of the work offered are substantially less favorable to the individual than those prevailing for similar work in the locality; (C) if as a condition of being employed the individual would be required to join a company union or to resign from or refrain from joining any bona fide labor organization.”

In his findings of fact the Appeals Referee failed to make any finding as to whether or not the actions of the employees in failing to go through the switchmen's union picket line was a voluntary or involuntary act on their part or was with or without good cause. His only finding looking to such question was Finding of Fact No. 7, which reads as follows (R. 95):

“That if the workers involved in this matter had attempted to cross the picket line to go to work, they would have been in disrepute with their

fellow workers and with their union. They would have been considered as 'scabs' and their position in the community would have become socially undesirable."

Finding of Fact No. 7 indicates that in the opinion of the referee the actions of the petitioners were probably involuntary. At least his finding will sustain a belief that the petitioners had good cause for failing to cross through the picket line under the circumstances surrounding them at the gates of the A. S. & R. plant on the morning of June 28th. The evidence is undisputed and, as a matter of law petitioners submit, shows their conduct involuntary and with good cause.

What is "good cause" has been discussed at great length in a very learned article, *Lesser*, Eligibility and Disqualification, 55 *Yale L. J.* 115, 158. Lesser, after discussing a number of the positions that administrative bodies have taken in interpreting unemployment compensation acts, comes to the conclusion that "good cause" as used in such acts means only cause that would justify a reasonable person in leaving his work. For similar conclusions see Unemployment Compensation and Labor Disputes, 49 *Yale L. J.* 461, and *Schindler*—Collective Bargaining and Unemployment Insurance Legislation, 38 *Col. L. Rev.* 858. No reasonable interpretation of our statute would require an unemployed workman to take unreasonable risks either to his social or physical well-being to qualify for unemployment compensation.

The proposition to be resolved then simply stated is: Did the petitioners act as reasonable men on the morning of June 28th when they did not cross the switchmen's picket line? Having a bearing on their decision are the following undisputed facts:

1. The picket line was in place and appeared in all respects regular and bona fide.

2. A large group of union personnel had collected in front of the picket line. The drivers on the busses carrying the men into the plant had stopped at the picket line. The men at the gate became uneasy and angry when they learned of some union personnel in the plant working. They indicated that a riot might commence unless such violation of union rules and regulations was stopped.

3. The community in which petitioners reside is a thoroughly unionized town in which loyalty to union causes is a primary social mainspring. "Scabs" are there held socially unacceptable and unfit for the association of good union workers. Ostracization would be a means of showing the disfavor into which union men fall when they are disloyal to the oath which they take as a union man.

4. The A. S. & R. plant was fully unionized and there was a union shop which covered all day-pay workers. Even though the employer would be willing to employ persons who cross picket lines, union workers

would not be willing to work with such employees and it would probably be impossible for those workers who crossed the picket line to remain employed at the A. S. & R. Garfield plant.

No reasonable union workman under the following set of facts would have crossed the switchmen's picket line and entered the A. S. & R. plant on the morning of June 28, 1950. Even the plant superintendent himself stated for the record at the hearing before the Appellate Referee that the plant itself did not encourage union employees to cross picket lines. His exact statement as made through his attorney was as follows (R. 76) :

“* * * I also would like the record to show that if Mr. Rouillard were sworn as a witness, he would state that it isn't a policy of the American Smelting and Refining Company to encourage employees to go through the picket lines if it involved the A. S. & R. and their employees.”

We then have a unanimity of opinion. The employees did not think it would be in their best interest to cross the picket line. The company would not encourage them to cross the picket line.

The proposition before the Court has not been squarely discussed by any decision that petitioners have been able to discover. However, there is one good decision which covers all of the basic propositions which petitioners here advance. It is *Barclay White Co. v. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review* (Pa. Super. Ct. 1946), 46 A. 2d 598. In the Barclay case the employee refused to accept employment at \$1.01½ per hour, which

was a rate of pay which was below the wage scale established by his union. The basis of his refusal was not that he was unwilling to work for the rate of pay provided but that if he did work for that rate he would have been suspended from his union with consequent loss of all membership advantages including sick, old age and death benefits. Compensation was denied by the appeal referee. The Board of Appeals reversed the referee and ordered the claimant paid. The question before the court was whether or not claimant had refused to accept suitable work without good cause within the intent of the Pennsylvania Unemployment Compensation Law. There was no claim that the rate of pay was not adequate or the hours or other conditions of work were less favorable to claimant than those prevailing in the locality. No condition was attached requiring claimant to join a company union or to resign from a union of which he was a member, and claimant was fully qualified to do the work which he was referred to. The Board found that if the claimant had accepted the proffered employment he would have subjected himself to expulsion from the union of which he was a member and would have lost accumulated death benefits. The Pennsylvania court pointed out that the power to punish members for activities which the union considers detrimental to labor generally was the veritable sine qua non of the labor movement, lying very near the heart and of the essence of labor's legal structure. Without the ability to punish members for such

activity a union would be a pallid, impotent entity and its objectives unrealizable. The court stated the proposition in the following language at page 602:

“This case comes to this: The claimant was obliged to decide between the referred employment and the loss of his union membership. Is an unemployed workman obliged to accept suitable employment when its acceptance subjects him to the loss of membership in an organization which is sanctioned and encouraged by the law, and thereby sacrifice valuable property rights? Is an employee who refuses referred suitable work in such circumstances ‘without good cause’?

“Unions are now under the protection of the police power of the commonwealth, and the legislature has solemnly declared that ‘the public policy of the state (is) to encourage the practice and procedure of collective bargaining and *to protect the exercise by workers of full freedom of association*, self-organization, and designation of representatives of their own choosing, for the purpose of negotiating the terms and conditions of their employment or other mutual aid or protection free from interference, restraint or coercion of their employers.’ * * * It is thus the settled policy of the state to encourage unions, to throw around them the protection of the law, and the maintenance of their membership has become a matter of direct concern to the public welfare. The law now sustains labor unions not alone because of the inestimable advantages which they bring to their members but for the larger purpose they serve, of promoting the public welfare. So, an employee who joins a union and abides by its

internal polity is within his legal rights; and he acquires a status for the preservation of which the police power of the state is pledged.

* * * * *

“* * * We have ‘the pressure of real, not imaginary, substantial, not trifling, reasonable, not whimsical circumstances,’ and these compel claimant’s decision to refuse the referred employment. The threat of expulsion was real, not imaginary: it was contained in the by laws; it was communicated by a responsible union official to the claimant; and other members had been suspended or expelled for the same cause. It was substantial, not trifling: loss of membership in the union would deprive claimant of valuable property rights, the accumulated death benefits, and the opportunity to obtain and retain work at union rates. It was reasonable, not whimsical: * * *. Claimant’s refusal contains all the elements of good cause.”

The Pennsylvania Unemployment Compensation Act contains a provision similar to the Utah Workmen’s Compensation Law and states as follows: *Section 402 (b), 43 P.S.:*

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