1951

Ous P. Lexes, Ralph M. Garner, Peter John Kanon
and Thomas L. Anderson v. The Industrial
Commission of Utah and American Smelting and
Refining Company : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I

THE CLAIMANTS WERE NOT AVAILABLE FOR WORK WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE UTAH EMPLOYMENT SECURITY ACT AND WERE THEREFORE INELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION BENEFITS FOR THE PERIOD COMMENCING JUNE 25, 1950, AND ENDING JULY 8, 1950.

The Utah Employment Security Act provides, Sec. 42-2a-4, Utah Code Annotated 1943, that to be eligible to receive benefits with respect to any week a claimant must make a claim for benefits for that week, he must *register* for work, and he must be *able* and *available* for work. The word "avail-

ability" is generally defined as being at disposal, accessible, attainable, ready or handy, and usable. The claimant is considered to be available for work only when he is prepared to accept at once an offer of any suitable work brought to his notice. The question of availability usually arises in two types of situations; one where, by some overt act such as leaving his usual employment or leaving the general area where his type of employment is available or assuming obligations extraneous to employment or the like, the claimant has materially lessened his opportunity of working or has restricted his sphere of employment; and the other where the claimant has failed to apply for, or has refused to accept employment. In the situations of the first type the mental attitude and the intentions of the claimant toward accepting suitable work are an important test even though he has placed himself in a position which, viewed objectively, would seem consistent with availability. The acceptance of his customary employment or any suitable work, of course, constitutes the best evidence of mental willingness to work.

In the instant case there can be no contention that the usual work of the claimants at the American Smelting & Refining properties was not suitable.

The petitioners call the court's attention to Section 42-2a-5(c) (2), Utah Code Annotated 1943 (Utah Employment Security Act) which sets up certain standards applying to offers of *new work*. That section quoted by the petitioners provides that *new work* may not be offered to a claimant if the position offered is vacant due directly to a strike, lockout, or other labor dispute. The primary intent of this statutory

provision is to bar a referral of workers which would have the effect of setting up a system of strike breaking.

In the instant case there was no offer of *new work* to any of the claimants. The work which was involved was their customary usual occupation. As early as June 23, 1950, the Executive Board of Local Union 4347, United Steel Workers of America, C.I.O., had determined that its members would not violate any picket line which might be established by the Switchmen's Union (Tr. 17, 18). They notified the management on or about that time that if the picket line were established they would not be available for work. On June 28 at the time the picket line was established the members of the Executive Board again notified the company that its members would not cross the picket line and that there would be no employees available to continue operations.

The situation wherein a non-striking union refuses to cross picket lines is not a novel one. The instant case differs from many others only by virtue of the fact that there was no strike and no dispute in existence between the Switchmen's Union of North America and the American Smelting & Refining Company. The strike and the dispute was between the Switchmen's Union of North America and the Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Company. The reason given by the claimants for failing to cross the picket lines is very well expressed by one of claimants' witnesses, who, when asked why union members respected picket lines, replied:

"Well, every union man on joining a union pledges that he will work for the betterment of organized labor and that he will not under any circumstances take an-

other man's job and that he will cease work on the orders of his union, and there is also a common belief among organized labor that what hurts one union man hurts another and to undermine the—for the C.I.O., for example, to undermine the A. F. of L. union by crossing their picket lines and aid in breaking the strike would undermine all of our rights." (Tr. 39).

In essence, then, the honoring by one union of the picket lines of another union is an economic weapon which has been adopted by the entire union movement. This choice of action on the part of union members does not in any manner or means change the general purpose of unemployment compensation laws. These laws are established to accumulate funds by levying contributions against the employers or payrolls; said funds to be used for the payment of unemployment compensation to individuals who become unemployed through no fault of their own. Unemployment compensation is provided to carry individuals over temporary periods wherein they are unable to work because of factors beyond their control. The intent of employment security and unemployment compensation cannot be changed by reason of possible stigmas or union penalties which spring from and are inherent in the union movement and which are subject to change only by the unions themselves. To hold that the unions could establish rules under which unemployment compensation would be paid would necessarily mean that employers or employer groups could also establish rules under which unemployment compensation would be paid or denied as the case might be.

The right of the union as an organization or the individual member of the union to recognize picket lines or abide by other

union rules must not be confused with the right of such individuals to unemployment compensation. Voluntary actions in many instances deny unemployment benefits to individual workers. They are denied benefits in cases of misconduct in connection with their work, in cases of voluntary quits, in cases where they are physically unable to work, and in many other instances where the underlying reason for their unemployment lies in some volitional act on their part.

In *Bodinson Manufacturing Company vs. California Employment Commission*, 17 Cal. 2d 321, 109 P. 2d 935, and 101 P. 2d 165, a strike was called by the welders union. The machinists did not go on strike but refused to cross the picket line of the welders. The Commission determined that the machinists were eligible for benefits. The court in holding that this determination was erroneous stated:

"The weakness of this argument is not in the underlying premises upon which respondents rely, but in its application to the present case based upon the assumption that the employees who refused to pass the picket line did not act of their own volition. It is true that under the proper construction of the statute an employee who is prevented from working through no act of his own is entitled to compensation, as for example, where he is barred by force from the premises where he has been working, but that is not the situation here. If the picket line was maintained within the limits permitted by law, as this one presumably was, no physical compulsion was exerted to prevent correspondents from working. They were unemployed solely because in accordance with their union principles they did not choose to work in a plant where certain of their fellow employees were on strike. Their own

consciences and faith in their union principles dictated their action. This choice is one which members of organized labor are frequently called upon to make, and in the eyes of the law this kind of choice has never been deemed involuntary. This very point was considered by us in a recent case dealing with the right of labor unions to picket, wherein the employer sought an injunction on the ground that the picket line operated as an unlawful compulsion upon other union men. We said . . . 'It is obviously untrue that when truck drivers employed by other firms refuse to go through the picket line, they do so involuntarily. Such refusal is undoubtedly based upon the freely adopted rules of the local union to which they belong.' Fairly interpreted it was intended to disqualify those workers who voluntarily leave their work because of a trade dispute. Co-respondents in this proceeding, in fact, left their work because of a trade dispute and are consequently ineligible to receive benefit payments."

In the instant case the workers remained away from their employment solely because of their adherence to the union principle of honoring picket lines. The defendants do not question the union principles involved. We do, however, contend that benefits are not payable to claimants whose unemployment is due directly to their voluntarily staying away from work due to the carrying out of those principles. We think it makes little difference whether the picket line is a legal one or one which constitutes a secondary boycott. In the instant case, the union to which the claimants belonged not only recognized the picket line, but took an active part in enforcing the picket line by sending a delegation into the plant to order certain A. F. of L. construction workers off the property. In

other words, the union was adding its own economic strength to that of the Switchmen's Union.

In the case of American Brake Shoe Company vs. Frank Annunzio, Director of Labor, et al, 405 Ill. 44, claimants who did not cross the picket lines set up by members of a different union at the company in which they worked were held disqualified from unemployment benefits. In commenting upon the eligibility of the workers the court said:

"It appears to us from the evidence of the sole witness from the Die Sinkers' Conference that the real reason for the die sinkers failing to report for work was that they did not care to be classified as 'scabs.' Peaceful picketing by employees to gain rights from employers is recognized as a legal activity, but picketing coupled with violence is not recognized as a legal activity. In this case it appears that the die sinkers could have entered their place of employment without sustaining bodily harm, and since this court will not assume that picketing normally will bring violence, therefore it appears to us that the die sinkers voluntarily remained away from their employment because they did not care to be classified as 'scabs' by fellow employees. Since the fear of such classification appeared to be the motivation for their failure to enter their place of employment, it logically follows that they were either participating in the labor dispute by failing to cross the picket line or voluntarily remaining away from their employment, either of which would disqualify them from compensation benefits. The die sinkers were unemployed solely because in accordance with their union principles they did not choose to work in a plant where certain employees from another plant of their employer were conducting picketing."

In the case of Local Union No. 222, Oil Workers Inter-

national Union, et al, vs. Robert L. Gordon, Director of Labor, et al (Illinois Supreme Court, May 18, 1950) 406 Ill. 145, the production and maintenance workers of Local No. 222 whose place of employment was shut down when a picket line was set up by employees of another company who were members of the same international union, the court, in holding the workers ineligible for unemployment compensation benefits because of the workers' observance of the picket line, said:

"The stoppage in the case at bar resulted from a conference not between the Texas Company and the pickets, but between Local 222 and the Texas Company. There is no showing in the case at bar of any threat of violence . . . In the case of American Brake Shoe Company vs. Annunzio, 405 Ill. 44, we held that employees are ineligible for unemployment compensation where they elect not to cross the picket line established by other employees from another plant of the same employer who are members of a different labor union. We held that they must be regarded as either participating in the labor dispute which caused the picketing or being voluntarily unemployed because they did not care to cross the picket line. We cannot see how the plaintiffs in this case can be any more entitled to benefits than the plaintiffs in the American Brake Shoe case because the substance of the termination arrangements of the negotiations merely were that both the union and the employer understood that Local Union 222 would respect the picket line and, therefore, there would be a work stoppage."

In the instant case, as hereinbefore pointed out, the union had on one or more occasions advised the company that its members would not cross the picket line and that consequently the workers on the second and third shifts should be notified

of that situation; in other words, that they were not to report for work. Naturally, with no workers reporting for work because of unavailability due to their refusal to cross the picket line, a work stoppage resulted. Had the men presented themselves as being ready and willing to work, the operations of the American Smelting and Refining Company would have continued at the normal pace.

The Indiana Board of Review in Decision No. 48-LDR-6, 4-18-49, quoted at C.C.H. paragraph 8163, holds that members of one union who refuse to cross the picket line established by another union are ineligible for benefits because they are voluntarily unemployed and because their unemployment results from the individual act of each claimant in failing to cross the picket line. The decision holds that the refusal to cross the picket line is tantamount to an individual act of participation by each claimant in the labor dispute.

The Oregon Appeals Referee, in case No. 46-RA-144, March 9, 1946, quoted at C.C.H. paragraph 8059, held that even though the claimant states that he is not a member of the striking union and is not involved in the strike, he expresses interest in the dispute and participation in the dispute which creates his unemployment by his refusal to cross the picket line which has been established by workers in the factory at which he was last employed.

The case of Carl W. Franke vs. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, 166 Pa. Super. 251, 70 A. 2d 461 (9950), involved bus drivers who were unemployed during a strike of the maintenance workers at the garage where the

buses were kept. The court, in holding the bus drivers ineligible for unemployment compensation benefits because their unemployment was due to their unwillingness to make a reasonable effort to cross the picket line of the maintenance workers, said:

“A non-striking employee’s refusal to cross a picket line would be a ‘voluntary’ suspension of work within the meaning of Section 402(d) where the decision was his own. Phillips, Unemployment Compensation Case, 163 Pa. Super. Court 374, 62 A. 2d 84.” (Citing other cases).

In the matter of Frank H. McGann vs. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, 163 Pa. Super. 379, 62 A. 2d 87, the court held that if a claimant is prevented from peacefully pursuing his employment because of the militant attitude of the picket line, because of incidents of violence, and because of threats of physical violence, his unemployment would be involuntary. However, the court said that a mere statement by a claimant that he refused to cross the picket line because of fear of bodily harm is not enough to demonstrate that his unemployment was involuntary in a situation where there was not a single overt act of violence of any character, leading a reasonable person to believe that he would be in physical danger in the event he attempted to cross the picket lines. The strike and picket lines are not always accompanied by violence, intimidation, and physical restraint. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, we may assume that picketing is carried on peacefully and within the limits permitted by law. The court held that there was substantial and competent evidence supporting the finding that claimants

made no efforts to cross the picket lines, that they were not actually threatened, and that there was no attempted violence, and that therefore they were subject to disqualification for voluntary suspension of work resulting from an industrial dispute.

In the case of Joseph D. Phillips vs. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, 163 Pa. Super. 374, 62 A. 2d 84, the court held that the claimant, a member of a machinists union, who refused to cross a picket line established by an office employees' union, was unemployed due to a voluntary suspension of work resulting from an industrial dispute. The claimant was not prevented from crossing the picket line, and his adherence to union principles dictated his decision not to cross it, and that he had made the strikers' cause his own by voluntarily suspending his work.

In the case of Joseph P. Stillman et al vs. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, 161 Pa. Super. 569, 56 A. 2d 380, the court cited with approval the findings of the Board. These findings are as follows:

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